IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 01-2523

MICHAEL T. RIVERA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0754773

SUZANNE MYERS Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3RD AVE., SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Rivera was charged by indictment on August 6, 1986, with first degree murder in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County (R. 2164). Mr. Rivera was adjudicated guilty on April 16, 1987, and on April 17, 1987, the jury recommended a death sentence (R. 2296, 2307). On May 1, 1987, the trial court imposed a death sentence (R. 2308-13). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Rivera's conviction and sentence but reversed the finding that the offense was cold, calculated and premeditated. Rivera v. State, 561 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1990).

On October 31, 1991, Mr. Rivera filed a motion under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and subsequently filed two amended Rule 3.850 motions. The circuit court initially ordered an evidentiary hearing on Claim II F, J and K, and Claim XIX (1PC-R. 1205-06). At the evidentiary hearing, when the State began attempting to present evidence on Claims XX and XXI, upon which no hearing had been granted, the court ordered a hearing on those claims as well and set a later date for that

hearing (1PC-R. 190-99). The court summarily denied the remainder of the claims without attaching any files and records demonstrating that the claims were conclusively refuted by the record (1PC-R. 1205-06). The circuit court subsequently denied all relief (1PC-R. 1717-21).

Mr. Rivera appealed. This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Rivera's claim that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance at the penalty phase and affirmed the circuit court's denial of relief as to other claims. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1998).

The evidentiary hearing ordered by this Court was held on April 26 and 27, 1999. After the hearing, Mr. Rivera and the State filed memoranda (2PC-R. 354-94, 395-415, 416-26). The circuit court denied relief (2PC-R. 584-600). Mr. Rivera timely filed a notice of appeal (2PC-R. 602).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. TRIAL AND DIRECT APPEAL

Mr. Rivera's trial was held in April 1987. The jury returned a guilty verdict on April 16, 1987 (R. 1899). The penalty phase began on April 17, 1987 (R. 1904).

¹Mr. Rivera filed a second Rule 3.850 motion on October 1, 1999, and amended that motion on September 28, 2001 (2PC-R. Vol. 2 at 262-339; Vol. 3 at 534-583). The motion is still pending in the circuit court. This Court recently directed the circuit court to hold proceedings on that motion.

After the guilty verdict, defense counsel requested a continuance of the penalty phase:

THE COURT: When do we have the penalty?

MR. HANCOCK: Judge, I would ask we start tomorrow morning.

MR. MALAVENDA: Judge, I can't start that quick.

THE COURT: Oh, well I don't want to subject this jury any more than -- I was going to say this afternoon.

MR. MALAVENDA: Judge, I started yesterday trying to call people up on this. I've got a psychiatrist and I need Dr. Livingston.

THE COURT: Well, you should have been prepared for the possibility.

MR. MALAVENDA: Right. I know that.

(R. 1901-02). Counsel's request for more time in which to prepare was denied (R. 1903). The penalty phase began at 9:00 a.m. the following morning (R. 1904).² This was the first time counsel had ever proceeded to penalty phase in a capital case (R. 2089).

At the penalty phase, the State presented the testimony of assistant state attorney Joel Lazarus, who had prosecuted Mr. Rivera in another case. Lazarus testified that the victim

 $^{^2}$ At that time defense counsel again requested a continuance because the defense wished to call Dr. Wright, the medical examiner, as a witness, but he was out of town (R. 1905). The request was denied (R. 1908).

in that case was Jennifer Goetz and that Mr. Rivera was convicted of "[f]our counts. Attempted murder in the first degree, kidnapping, aggravated child abuse, aggravated battery" (R. 1923). On cross-examination, when defense counsel asked questions to demonstrate that the four convictions were based upon the same set of facts, Lazarus described the convictions as arising from "four separate crimes all occurring July 10th, 1986" (R. 1924). The State also presented former assistant state attorney Bruce Raticoff, who testified he had prosecuted two cases against Mr. Rivera in 1980 for burglary with intent to commit battery and for indecent assault on a child under fourteen (R. 1929).

The defense presented the testimony of Mr. Rivera's sisters, Elisa and Miriam. Elisa Rivera's testimony on direct examination consists of two transcript pages during which trial counsel asked her questions such as "Do you have anything to say about Michael, about how you feel about this situation?" and "In light of [Michael's past] problems, do you still feel the way that you just said, that you love him?" (R. 1937). On cross-examination, the State asked when Mr. Rivera began having problems, and Elisa testified that Mr. Rivera's problems began "when he was molested himself" (R. 1939). The prosecutor asked Elisa what problems Mr. Rivera had, and Elisa

testified "he was always to himself and he started falling farther away from us than he used to be, and he just closed up" (R. 1939).

Miriam Rivera's testimony on direct examination also consists of only two transcript pages during which trial counsel asked questions such as "how would you describe your relationship to your brother at that point?" and "Are there any good things that you can say about your brother?" (R. 1942-43).

Peter Rivera, Mr. Rivera's brother, testified on direct examination for about three transcript pages (R. 1945-47).

Trial counsel asked him if he was aware of all of Mr. Rivera's prior convictions and then asked, "in light of all that information that you have of your brother, how do you feel about him today?" (R. 1946). When asked, "Is there any good things you have to say about Michael," Peter answered that Mr. Rivera was "very helpful" (R. 1946). Peter also testified that Michael had girlfriends and that he had heard that when Michael was thirteen or fourteen, he was molested by a Mr. Donovan (R. 1947). On cross-examination, the State elicited that Peter had only heard about the Donovan incident from his mother, that Mr. Rivera was friends with Donovan and went on trips with him and that Peter did not know whether Donovan or

Mr. Rivera had initiated the alleged molestation incident (R. 1948-49). The State also elicited that Peter had told police that Mr. Rivera was "a total maniac" when he got mad (R. 1949-50).

Judith Delease, Peter's girlfriend, testified for one and one-half pages on direct examination (R. 1952-53). She had known Mr. Rivera for three years, had never seen him in women's clothing, never saw him do anything which would cause her concern, and knew he had a girlfriend (R. 1952-53). trial counsel asked, "Now is there anything good that you have to say about Michael, "Ms. Delease testified, "I know Michael couldn't have done this. I know this is wrong" (R. 1953). cross-examination, the State elicited that Ms. Delease and Peter did not really associate with Mr. Rivera, that Ms. Delease could count the number of times she had been out with Mr. Rivera on one hand and that when she first began dating Peter, Mr. Rivera was in prison (R. 1953-54). On redirect, trial counsel elicited that Mr. Rivera helped his parents "move stuff around the house" and helped Ms. Delease "take a tree out of the back yard" (R. 1955).

A woman identified only as "Linda" testified that she went to a concert with Mr. Rivera in 1985 and described that evening in some detail (R. 1960, 1962-63). After the concert,

Mr. Rivera took Linda home, where she lived with her parents (R. 1963). About 1:30 a.m. that night, Mr. Rivera called Linda, who berated him for calling so late and disturbing her parents (R. 1964-65). About 3:30 or 4:00 a.m., Linda received a call from "a different man" who "sounded very frustrated, capable of anything in my opinion" (R. 1965). The caller threatened Linda's mother, and the next day, Linda reported the incident to the police (R. 1965). Linda believed the caller was Mr. Rivera (R. 1965). Linda explained that she was testifying because she believed "Michael is not a murderer and this is another side of Michael that is uncontrollable for him" (R. 1966). Linda testified, "I believe Michael suffers from a mental disorder because I saw the nice side of Michael. I've never seen the bad side of him" (R. 1966).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor brought out that Linda had gone out with Mr. Rivera only the one time and that at most, Mr. Rivera had dropped by Linda's house maybe three times but certainly less than ten times (R. 1971-72). Linda knew nothing about Mr. Rivera's background except what he told her (R. 1970). The person who called during the night after the concert and threatened her mother sounded violent, and Linda thought the person might be able to kill or harm her or her family (R. 1973-74). Linda was certain the caller was Mr.

Rivera, but when she confronted him, he did not admit to being the caller (R. 1975, 1981-82). Linda believed Mr. Rivera had two sides, one of which was capable of killing an eleven-year-old child (R. 1988-89).

Mr. Rivera's girlfriend, Lisa Keena, testified for two and one-half transcript pages on direct examination (R. 2090-92). She had been Mr. Rivera's girlfriend for about a year and a half (R. 2090). She was aware he had been in jail, still talked to him on the phone, loved him and thought he was a nice guy (R. 2090-91). She had no concerns about leaving Mr. Rivera with her children (R. 2091-92).

Mr. Rivera's mother, Esther Rivera, testified for about five transcript pages on direct examination (R. 2096-2101).

Mrs. Rivera loved her son, even though she knew about his sexual problems (R. 2097). Mr. Rivera lived with his mother most of his life and helped her around the house (R. 2097-98).

Mr. Rivera was "fine" with his siblings and made drawings (R. 2099-2100). Mr. Rivera was there when his mother or sister needed him (R. 2101).

Dr. Patsy Ceros-Livingston, a clinical psychologist, testified that she had interviewed Mr. Rivera three times, for a total of seven and one-half hours (R. 1992-93). Dr. Ceros-Livingston read her written report to the jury (R. 2007). Dr.

Ceros-Livingston read brief summaries of Mr. Rivera's educational history, his relationships with family members and friends and his employment history (R. 1995-98). Dr. Ceros-Livingston briefly referred to some drugs Mr. Rivera had used (R. 1994, 2026, 2031, 2032). At some length, Dr. Ceros-Livingston described Mr. Rivera's sexual history and fantasies, his encounters with legal authorities, his wearing woman's bathing suits and exposing himself to women, his attending sexual offender programs while on probation and in prison, being molested by Bob Donovan from age 14 until age 16 or 17, his continuing relationship with Donovan, his attempt to rape a woman, the incident with Jennifer Goetz and making obscene phone calls (R. 1998-2006, 2008-32). Mr. Rivera said he had nothing to do with Staci Jazvac's murder (R. 2025-26). Mr. Rivera said he had called Starr Peck and told her he had murdered Staci Jazvac, but that story was a fantasy (R. 2027-29).

Dr. Ceros-Livinston diagnosed Mr. Rivera with borderline personality disorder, exhibitionism and transvestism (R. 2033). Dr. Ceros-Livingston believed the time she spent with Mr. Rivera was a sufficient basis for her diagnoses (R. 2041). The borderline personality disorder diagnosis was based upon Mr. Rivera's history of impulsivity, unstable relationships,

lack of control of anger, identity disturbance, affective instability, and intolerance of being alone (R. 2034-36). The diagnosis of exhibitionism was also based on Mr. Rivera's history (R. 2037-38), as was the diagnosis of transvestism (R. 2038-39).

Dr. Ceros-Livingston gave Mr. Rivera three tests, the Draw-A-Person Test, the Carlson Psychological Survey and the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) (R. 2039). The Draw-A-Person Test indicated a strong obsessive-compulsive mechanism, voyeuristic and inhibition tendencies, excessive sensuality, effeminacy and sexual ambivalence (R. 2040). The MMPI indicated that Mr. Rivera was immature, narcissistic and dependent, was uncomfortable around the opposite sex, showed some paranoia and suspiciousness, and may have problems with drug abuse (R. 2041). On the Carlson test, Mr. Rivera fell within the normal range (R. 2041-42). Dr. Ceros-Livingston read from her report regarding what the psychological literature said about Mr. Rivera's personality characteristics and behavior (R. 2042-45).

Dr. Ceros-Livingston testified that at the time of Staci Jazvac's murder, Mr. Rivera was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (R. 2046). Counsel asked the expert to assume that Mr. Rivera made threatening phone calls in which he identified himself as "Tony," and asked whether Mr. Rivera was under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person (R. 2047). Dr. Ceros-Livingston testified that although borderline personality disorder can sometimes produce psychosis which might occur "[i]f the person really thought that they were two people," but "I don't have that" (R. 2048). When asked if she had an opinion whether or not Mr. Rivera's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the law was substantially impaired, Dr. Ceros-Livinston testified, "Yes. I think I would say this, counsel: the history that I have indicates to me that Mr. Rivera is a very impulsive, driven person" (R. 2049).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor brought out that all of Dr. Ceros-Livingston's data came from Mr. Rivera and that she had not talked to any of Mr. Rivera's family members (R. 2068-69). Because the evaluation was confidential, Dr. Ceros-Livingston believed she was not permitted to talk to family members (R. 2069-70). Before Dr. Ceros-Livingston performed the evaluation, defense counsel had told her, "You've got the court order [to do a confidential evaluation] and try to get as much information as you can" (R. 2073). The only document Dr. Ceros-Livingston reviewed was a probable cause affidavit

regarding the Jennifer Goetz offense, and she did not read any police reports about the Jazvac homicide (R. 2074-75, 2084-85).

The jury recommended death by a vote of 12 to 0 (R. 2139). The court imposed death, finding four aggravating circumstances: prior conviction of violent felony, committed during commission or attempt to commit kidnapping and sexual battery, heinous, atrocious or cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated (R. 2147-49). The court found one statutory mitigating circumstance--committed while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance--and no nonstatutory mitigating circumstances (R. 2150-52).

On direct appeal, this Court summarized the evidence presented at the penalty phase as follows:

During the penalty phase, the state introduced evidence of prior convictions. [footnote omitted] Rivera introduced the testimony of his sisters, Elisa and Miriam, through whom the jury learned that Rivera was himself the victim of child molestation. Rivera's present girlfriend testified that she had no concerns about leaving him with her children. Rivera's former girlfriend was allowed to testify under an alias. She expressed the opinion that Rivera had two personalities. Through Michael he demonstrated a good side and through "Tony" he exposed his dark side which compelled him to do terrible things.

Dr. Patsy Ceros-Livingston, a clinical psychologist, interviewed Rivera in jail. She diagnosed Rivera as having a borderline personality disorder, which is characterized by impulsivity, a pattern of unstable

and intense interpersonal relationships, lack of control of anger, identity disturbance, affective instability, intolerance of being alone, and physically self-damaging acts. The doctor also diagnosed exhibitionism, voyeurism, and transvestism.

Dr. Ceros-Livingston opined that Rivera acted under extreme duress and that he had some special compulsive characteristics that substantially impaired his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform this conduct to the requirement of the law.

<u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 536, 538 (Fla. 1990). This Court struck the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor. Id. at 540. The Court affirmed the trial court's finding of only one statutory mitigating factor: "We conclude on this record that the trial court was acting within the parameters of its discretion in rejecting the additional mitigating factors. The trial court's findings with regard to the existence or nonexistence of mitigating circumstances are supported by substantial competent evidence." Id. at 540-41. The Court concluded that striking an aggravating factor did not require resentencing: "On this record, we are persuaded that the one mitigating factor weighed against the magnitude of the aggravating factors would render the same result in the trial court below, absent the single invalidated aggravating circumstance." Id. at 541.

B. POST-CONVICTION

In its opinion remanding for an evidentiary hearing, the Court described the mitigation which Mr. Rivera contended could have been presented had trial counsel conducted an adequate investigation. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 484-85 (Fla. 1998). The Court then explained why an evidentiary hearing was necessary: "Considering the volume and extent of these alleged mitigators in comparison to the limited mitigation actually presented at trial, we agree with Rivera that he warrants an evidentiary hearing on his claim of penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel." Id. at 485.

1. Deficient Performance

At the evidentiary hearing, members of Mr. Rivera's family and other lay witnesses explained that trial counsel, Edward Malavenda, did not contact them and/or did not ask them what they knew about Mr. Rivera's life. Mr. Rivera's sister Miriam testified that Malavenda brought her and other family members to his office the night before or the morning of the day they testified at the penalty phase (2PC-R. Vol. 6 at 145). Malavenda did not ask Miriam if she knew anything about Mr. Rivera's drug use, although Miriam "would have been more than willing to talk about anything he wanted to talk about" (Id.).

Mr. Rivera's sister Elisa testified that she only met

Malavenda the day before or on the day she testified:

- Q Did you have an opportunity to speak to [Mr. Malavenda] any time after Michael was arrested in February of `86?
- A The only time I remember speaking to him, I believe, the day of the trial. It was more like to let us know what was going on.
- Q He never spoke to you any time prior to that?
 - A No.
- Q Did he ever try to contact you prior to that?
 - A No.
 - Q Did you--
- A I believe that was the first time I even met the guy, was the day before the trial.
 - Q And what happened the day before the trial?
- A We went into his office, and he just had a conference with us like how it was going to go and what to expect because I never been in a courthouse before or a courtroom. It was basically he wanted to let us know what was like t.v. and what wasn't type of thing.
- Q Did he ever at that time or any time prior to this ask you about Michael's drug use?
 - A No, he didn't.
- Q Okay. And if he had asked you about the drug use, would you have told him what you know?
- A I would have told him whatever he needed to know, sure. There would be no reason to not, you know. I don't see a reason why I wouldn't.

- Q Okay. About how long was that meeting when you went into his office?
- A Twenty minutes the most. It wasn't that long.
 - Q Did he meet with you individually?
- A No. He met the family as a group. It wasn't individual.
 - Q He never spoke to you one-on-one?
 - A No.
- Q Did he ever go over testimony with you, what he was going to be asking you?
- A No. It was more or less to let us know what to kind of expect. Where the jury is going to be sitting. What people are going to be sitting, so we could get familiar what the room looks like before walking in there.
- Q But again, if he had asked you questions about the drugs or Robert Donavan or whatever, you know, you would be able to tell him?
 - A Yes.
 - Q And you would be willing to tell him?
 - A Yes, of course.

(2PC-R. Vol. 6 at 160-61).

Mr. Rivera's brother Peter testified that Malavenda contacted him once and had him come to Malavenda's office about four to six months before Mr. Rivera's trial (2PC-R. Vol. 6 at 180). At that meeting, Malavenda asked Peter about Mr. Rivera's alibi (<u>Id</u>.). Malavenda talked to Peter "very

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