### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL RIVERA,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 01-2523

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO.0656879
1515 N. Flagler Dr.
SUITE 900
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(561) 837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Additionally, Rivera was also unable to meet his burden under the second prong of Strickland, as well. The trial court determined that the evidence of mitigation presented at the evidentiary would not have resulted in a life recommendation as the aggravating factors would have still far outweighed the mitigation. (PCR 600). The trial court also noted that appellant had not presented any evidence to establish his claim that he was in fact intoxicated at the time of the murder of Stacie. (PCR 589, 599). Appellant relies completely on the testimony of family and friends who can recount Rivera's history of drug use. Not one witness ever discussed Rivera's mental state at the time of the crime.

Although appellant concedes that "some mitigation" was presented at the penalty phase, he contends that the evidence was not sufficiently presented nor properly corroborated. Consequently, he claims that Malavenda's deficient performance resulted in prejudice. In support of his argument, Rivera relies on Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 1994); Philips v. State, 608 So. 2d 778, 783 (Fla. 1994); Mitchell v. State, 595 So. 2d 938, 942 (Fla. 1992); State v. Lara, 581 So. 2d 1288, 1289 (Fla. 1991); and Bassett v. State, 541 So. 2d 596, 597 (Fla. 1989). Therein the Court has granted relief irrespective of the presence of numerous or strong evidence in aggravation. Appellant mischaracterizes the underlying premise

of those cases. For instance, in Bassett, this Court never discussed the existence or strength of the aggravating factors. Relief was granted based on the significant absence of mitigation. Bassett 541 at 596-597. In Mitchell, this Court granted relief after concluding that, "[d]efense counsel presented no evidence at the penalty phase. He testified that he thought he was going to obtain a not-guilty verdict, so he had not prepared for the penalty phase." Mitchell, 595 at 941-Likewise in Lara there was a complete failure of counsel 942. to conduct any investigation into mitigation. Lara 581 So. 2d at 1289. Similarly in Phillips, there was very little evidence presented at the penalty phase. The state conceded that trial counsel's performance was in fact deficient. Phillips, 608 So. 2d at 782. And finally in Torres-Arboleda, the penalty phase presentation consisted solely of an expert opining that the defendant was an "excellent candidate for rehabilitation" and that he was very intelligent. Id. at 1325. Clearly one of the overriding concerns in all of these cases was the virtual absence of mitigation at the penalty phase in contrast to the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing. As recounted above, the penalty phase presentation in this case was very similar to the evidentiary hearing presentation. difference in the presentations is that now Rivera presents a more detailed account of his drug abuse history. And as already

noted, the relevance of that information is significantly lessened given the lack of evidence to establish Rivera's alleged intoxication at the time of the murder.

The circumstances of this case are that Michael Rivera strangled to death eleven-year-old Stacie Jazvac while he was attempting to sexually assault her. Michael Rivera has a strong propensity towards this type of sexual and aggressive behavior against females as evidenced by his conviction for the attempted murder on another young female child, Jennifer Goetz. circumstances of this case led this Court to conclude that this murder satisfied the finding of three aggravators; "heinous, atrocious and cruel"; "the murder was committed during the course of a sexual battery"; and Rivera has a "prior violent felony conviction." Rivera v. State, 561 So. 2d 536, 540 (Fla. 1990). Consequently, the cumulative nature of the evidence, coupled with the horrific facts of this child murder, there is no reasonable likelihood that had the jury been given extensive details about Rivera's long standing use of illicit drugs, including his constant thievery to support his habit, that the results of the proceedings would have been different. State, 603 So. 2d 482, 486 (Fla. 1992) (upholding trial court's denial of relief where new psychologist's testimony is premised on poor impulse control would not have resulted in life sentence); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Fla. 1989)

(upholding denial of postconviction relief where additional evidence of abused childhood and drug and alcohol addiction would not have outweighed the aggravating factors which include prior violent sexual batteries and HAC); Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1079-1080 (Fla. 1992)(same); Routly, 590 So. 2d at 402 (same). The trial court properly concluded that Rivera failed to establish that trial counsel Malavenda provided ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase. Relief must be denied.

#### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF A FULL AND FAIR HEARING

During the evidentiary hearing, appellant attempted to present thee testimony of Mark Peters. Peters was called to discuss his drug experiences with appellant. At one point, Peters was asked questions regarding the circumstances of his moving to Orlando. (PCR 208-209). The state objected since there had already been a finding that Peters was unavailable at the time of trial to testify as to an alibi defense. (PCR 210). The following exchange took place:

CCCR: Your honor, we are not using him as an alibi witness. We are using him in the penalty phase as a mitigation witness, and we are trying to show that he was not unavailable.

STATE: But the determination of availability has already been addressed, and it is the law of the case.

COURT: I don't know how you get around that. CCCR: Well, I believe it was addressed in terms of the guilt phase. We are here on the penalty phase.

COURT: Isn't unavailability unavailability? CCCR: okay.

(PCR 210). On appeal, appellant claims that the trial court erred in not allowing Peters to re-address the circumstances of his move to Orlando. However appellant does not offer any justification for such an opportunity. The trial court's ruling was correct.

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  The state has never attempted to refute the claim that Rivera does have a chronic drug abuse history.

At the first evidentiary hearing, Mark Peters was presented as a potential alibi witness in support of the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call him. In the alternative, appellant argued that Peters testimony amounted to newly discovered evidence or in the alternative <u>Brady</u> material. 6 This Court disposed of those claims as follows:

Peters left Orlando after giving his information to both the police and Rivera's counsel, Edward Malavenda. He testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not tell the police he was leaving and did not remember telling Malavenda he was leaving. Consequently, when the trial commenced, Malavenda had no alibi witnesses to present. Arguably, Malavenda should have presented Peters' deposition since he should have been able to establish his unavailability. Nevertheless, neither Peters' deposition nor his live testimony would have provided Rivera with an alibi for the crucial time after 7 p.m., the approximate time after which the victim was murdered. Therefore, assuming, arguendo, that Rivera established Malavenda rendered deficient that performance, he still must satisfy Strickland's prejudice prong. We find that Rivera has not satisfied that prong of the test.

Finally, Rivera's sub-claims that either information constitutes discovered evidence, or a Brady (FN6) violation, are without merit. First, by definition, newly discovered evidence only includes facts that were "unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of R. due diligence." Fla. Crim. 3.850(b)(1). The relevant facts were known by Malavenda and Rivera at the time of trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

and thus do not constitute newly discovered evidence.

Second, to establish a <u>Brady</u> claim, Rivera must prove the following:

(1) that the Government possessed evidence defendant favorable to the (including impeachment evidence); (2) that defendant does not possess the evidence nor obtain it himself with reasonable diligence; (3) that prosecution suppressed the favorable and (4) that had the evidence evidence; been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

<u>Hegwood v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 170, (Fla.1991) (quoting <u>United States v. Meros</u>, 866 F.2d 1304, 1308 (11th Cir.1989)). From the facts presented, it does not appear that Rivera can meet any of the four prongs required to establish a Brady violation. First, the fact alone that Rivera's counsel this information renders inapplicable. Second, whether information was favorable is very debatable. Third, the State did not suppress this information since Peters unilaterally decided to leave the area. Finally, since this information was not exculpatory, Rivera <u>Brady'</u>s fourth cannot meet and important prong. We therefore affirm the trial court's denial of relief on this claim.

Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 483 (Fla. 1998). Irrespective of these factual findings, appellant did not explain to the trial court below or to this Court now, why he should be entitled to re-open this inquiry, "[i]t is the general rule in Florida that all questions of law which have been decided by the

highest appellate court become the law of the case which, except in extraordinary circumstances, must be followed in subsequent proceedings, both in the lower and the appellate courts."

Brunner Enterprize., Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 452 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1984); See also Hodges v. Marion Cty., 774 So. 2d 950, 952 (5th DCA 2001) (rejecting contention that law of the case is overcome simply by arguing that issue was wrongly decided in first appeal); Davis v. State, 648 So. 2d 107, 110 (Fla. 1995)(refusing to revisit issue of prosecutorial misconduct since it was addresses in original appeal); Rose v. State, 787 So. 2d 786, 801 (Fla. 2001)(refusing to revisit challenge to trial court's weighing process of aggravating factors as issue was adversely decide to appellant in original appeal).

Appellant also complains that the trial court precluded him from presenting evidence regarding the fact that two of Rivera's prior convictions in a separate case had been vacated and therefore that was relevant to a prejudice determination.

Initial brief at 76. The prior convictions were relied upon in part in support of the aggravating factor of "prior violent felony." The state noted that the issue had already been resolved in the prior postconviction litigation and therefore was not germane to this inquiry. The trial court agreed. The court acknowledged that it could take judicial notice of

anything that relates to the case but the limited issue before him was the performance of trial counsel. (PCR 258-259). The state asserts that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in this regard.

On direct appeal, Rivera challenged the admissibility of his convictions for sexual assault and attempted first degree murder against Jennifer Geotz. Rivera v. State, 561 So. 2d 536, 539 (Fla. 1990). This Court found the evidence relevant and properly admitted at the guilt phase as collateral crime evidence. Id. In the initial motion for postconviction relief, the admissibility of that same evidence was again challenged.<sup>7</sup> Based on the fact that two of the prior convictions were vacated, Rivera argued that there presentation at his trial violated Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). The state countered that simply because appellant's convictions for aggravated battery and aggravated child abuse were vacated, Rivera was not entitled to relief under Johnson. Those charges were vacated based upon a legal principle that the single act of violence against Jennifer Goetz cannot form the basis for three separate crimes. Rivera v. State, 547 So. 2d 140, 142 (Fla 4th DCA 1989). In no way did this undermine the accuracy and reliability of Rivera's criminal actions against Jennifer Goetz.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  However, at this point, two of the four prior convictions had been vacated based on double jeopardy grounds. Rivera v. State, 547 So. 2d. 140 (4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1989).

The jury heard the testimony of Jennifer Goetz at the guilt phase, wherein she described what Rivera to her. (ROA 1451-1461). Additionally, Dr. Ceros-Livingston also detailed appellant's actions regarding Jennifer Geotz. (2021-2023, 2024, 2061, 2066-2067). Rivera has repeatedly admitted the attack at trial and in both postconviction proceedings. (ROA 1516; PCR-1 389; PCR-2 233). Whether his actions legally form the basis for four crimes or two, his convictions for kidnaping and attempted murder of Jennifer Geotz remain valid. Rivera, 547 So. 2d at 142. The jury was not exposed to any factual information that was otherwise inadmissible. Without the convictions for battery and child abuse, Jennifer Goetz's testimony would have been the same. And Rivera's admission would still be the same. There is no error.

On appeal, in rejecting appellant's claim, this Court determined:

Prior to his capital trial in this case, Rivera was convicted of kidnapping, attempted first-degree murder, aggravated child abuse, and aggravated battery. These convictions were introduced and relied upon in the capital case to support the prior violent felony aggravator. However, the aggravated battery and aggravated child abuse convictions were later vacated. Rivera v. State, 547 So.2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Rivera argues that his death sentence was imposed in violation of the Eighth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The fact that petitioner admitted to the crime must dispel any contention that the crime was not committed. There is no violation of <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988).

Amendment, on the basis of the Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 486 U.S. 578, 108 S.Ct. 1981, 100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988). This claim is meritless.

[12] Despite the reversal of two of Rivera's prior violent felony convictions, he still three other prior violent felony convictions which support this aggravator, thus precluding resort to the Court's decision in Johnson as a basis for relief. As we observed in Bundy v. State, So.2d 445, 447 (Fla.1989), the defendant's death sentence in Johnson was set aside by the Supreme Court because his New York assault conviction, which provided the sole basis for his prior violent felony aggravator, had been reversed. Obviously, Rivera can make no such claim. Therefore, we affirm the trial court's ruling on this claim of error.

Rivera, 717 So. 2d at 487. This Court's prior determination remains valid. In other words, the magnitude and impact of this aggravating factor remains in tact regardless of the reversal of the two lesser convictions. Consequently, the trial court's analysis regarding the prejudice prong of Strickland was not altered.

Appellant next claims that the trial court erred in sustaining the state's objection to hearsay testimony. The challenged testimony involved why other boys who knew Robert Donovan<sup>10</sup> decided to stop seeing him. (PCR-2 179). The state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Moreover the state would also note that the trial court's legal determination that trial counsel did not preform deficiently, renders any prejudice analysis moot.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  As mitigating evidence, appellant did present evidence that he was sexually molested by Robert Donovan. (PCR-2 141-

objected on two grounds, hearsay and relevancy. (PCR-2 178-179). The trial court determined that the witness could only testify regarding Rivera's relationship with Mr. Donovan and not what Mr. Donovan was doing with other boys. (PCR-2 179). The trial court's ruling was correct. Cf. Hill v. State, 515 So. 2d 176, 178 (Fla. 1987) (upholding trial court's refusal to admit evidence which focused on life experiences and character of family members rather than that of defendant). The state would also note that Donovan's molestation of appellant was brought at trial. (ROA 2012-2014, 2034, 2060, PCR-2 101).

Rivera next challenges the trial court's refusal to allow Rivera to elicit from his sister, Miriam Rivera, the details of her own crack use. However a review of line of questioning demonstrates that the trial court properly limited the witness's testimony.

Appellant's counsel was allowed to delve into the experiences this witness <u>and</u> her brother, the defendant had growing up. (PCR-2 at 132-137). That testimony also included any drug use this witness experienced with appellant. However, when the subject matter switched to exclude any direct information about appellant the trial court sustained the state's objection in the following manner:

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